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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	TRAVIS M. GRAVELLE, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

PACIFIC DETROIT DIESEL-

ALLISON COMPANY,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

LIBERTY NORTHWEST INSURANCE 

COMPANY,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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	      FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

      AWCB Case No.  200209661
       AWCB Decision No.  06-0110

       Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

       on  May 4th , 2006.


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employer’s petition appealing the Reemployment Benefits Administrator (RBA) determination that the employee is entitled to an eligibility evaluation and attorney fees and costs on April 4, 2006 in Anchorage, Alaska. Attorney William J. Soule represented the employee.   Attorney Constance E. Livsey represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  The record closed at the conclusion of the hearing.


ISSUES
1. Did the RBA abuse her discretion in referring the employee for an eligibility evaluation under AS 23.30.041(c)?

2. Is the claimant entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs for defending against the employer’s petition?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

I. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY OF THE CASE

The employee worked for the employer as a diesel mechanic.  The employer has several offices including one in Anchorage, Alaska, where the employee worked, and others including one in Ridgefield, Washington.  On May 7, 2002, the employee injured his right shoulder.  He continued working thinking his symptoms would go away.  He sought treatment from Bret Mason, M.D. and continued working.  However, as of May 29, 2002, the employee was taken off work and timeloss benefits were initiated by the employer.  Notice of the injury was given to the employer on May 31, 2002.
  Subsequently the employer paid permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits of  $23,010.00 as well as for surgeries and medical care for the employee.

The employee’s first surgery for his right shoulder was performed by Dr. Mason on June 19. 2002.  The post operative diagnosis was a Type II SLAP lesion of the right shoulder, supraspinatus tendonosis with impingement, a painful AC joint secondary to degenerative joint disease and acute exacerbation of injury with pain secondary to an on the job injury. On September 26, 2002, Dr. Mason released the employee to return to work.
 The employee returned to work but experienced ongoing shoulder pain.  On December 16, 2002, the employee underwent another arthroscopic surgery.  The post operative diagnosis was posterior superior flap tear of the glenoid labrum and subscromial adhesions and fraying of the coracoacromial.  The employee attempted physical therapy but it was not effective in improving his condition.

In May 2003, the employee was referred by Dr. Mason to Jeffrey Moore, M.D., who took over care of the employee’s shoulder.  A third surgery was discussed and more physical therapy undertaken. On May 30, 2003, Dr. Moore released the employee to work effective June 8, 2003 to perform modified work with right arm lifting limited to 5-10 pounds and no overhead lifting.
   

The parties differ as to what happened next.  The employer maintains the employer accommodated the employee’s limitations by providing a different job as a service/writer/foreman.  The hourly pay was the same as the mechanic position.  The employee maintains he clocked in the main office and then returned to the diesel mechanic work area and performed light duty mechanic work.

On July 9, 2003, the employee under went another right shoulder surgery this time to repair a repeat rotator cuff tear.  Timeloss benefits were paid through August 17, 2003, when Dr. Moore again released the employee to return to modified work at light duty with administrative duties.
  On September 11, 2003, Dr. Moore issued another work release indicating the employee’s restrictions were limited to 5/10 pounds with right arm and no overhead lifting.

On September 19, 2003, the employee completed and submitted to the Board his request for eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits.  He noted that he did not request evaluation within 90 days because he did not know about retraining.  He also indicated that he expected to get better and return to the job.  He also indicated he enjoyed the hard work related to the duties of a large diesel mechanic.

On September 22, 2003, Dr. Moore took the employee off work again and timeloss was against initiated.  Dr. Moore indicated that the employee had complained of increased symptoms with more physical therapy and complained of inability to perform desk  work.  

On October 1, 2003, the RBA rehabilitation staff wrote to the employee requesting further information.
  The employee did not respond immediately.  However, after several months, Dr. Moore did respond in his November 6, 2003 report.  It is not clear if this record was submitted by the doctor’s office to the Board or the employer.

On October 9, 2003, Dr. Moore referred the employee for pain management.  The employee was again released to return to work with no lifting over 10 pounds and no overhead lifting.

By letter dated October 17, 2003, the employer offered the service writer position to the employee.
  He declined it on October 24, 2003.

On October 27, 2003, the employee saw Shawn Johnston, M.D.
  Dr. Johnston noted the employee suffered from chronic right shoulder pain.  He also noted that although the employer had offered a position, the employee declined to do it and that the employee had been quite anxious about his job  situation and seeing a psychologist was suggested.
  On October 27, 2003, the employee saw Ramzi Nassar of the Langdon Clinic who noted difficulty with coping with anxiety/depression as well as right shoulder pain.
  On October 28, 2003, the employee’s benefits were controverted based on the October 9, 2003 work release and the employer’s claim that the employee had been offered work he could perform, but rejected it.

On November 6, 2003, Dr. Moore released the employee to limited work duties including no lifting over 10 pounds with his right arm and no overhead lifting.
  Dr. Moore stated:


With regards to his job, I do not expect this patient to be able to return to his previous work duties, which require significant heavy lifting and overhead lifting activities.  This patient will be much better suited to perform a job that would be more of a desk administrative type work.  I think that he should be retrained for this purpose.  My recommendation would be that he also undergo some psychological counseling, which should be done in a more immediate fashion.

The employee asserts this record constitutes the first time a doctor had informed the employee he may be permanently precluded from returning to his job at the time of injury.
  

On December 16, 2003, Dr. Moore reviewed a job description for the service writer position and opined that the employee could not do the job due to “anxiety attacks.” 
   Dr. Moore also noted the employee was going to have a hard time getting back to significant heavy lifting and overhead lifting.

In January 2004, an employer’s medical evaluation (EME)
 was scheduled for February 2004, but the employee did not appear.  On February 12, 2004, Dr. Moore again commented on the employee’s condition saying that he did not believe “we will have a final answer for his outcome until a year postoperatively,” but felt that in the meantime, “he will not be able to be em,ployed in a job that would involve prolonged overhead lifting or heavy lifting activities.”
  In June 2004, Dr. Moore concluded the employee was medically stable and ratable but recommended a physical capacities evaluation (PCE).  Dr. Moore stated that the employee would not be able to go back to a job involving significant amounts of overhead lifting or heavy lifting activities.  The PCE showed the employee had light to medium/heavy physical abilities depending on the physical activity tested.  Dr. Moore provided a permanent work restriction on August 30, 2004, which limited lifting to 15-20 pounds and no overhead lifting.

On September 14, 2004, Dr. Moore issued a PPI rating report which reiterated the employee was  unable to return to mechanic work and rated the employee’s impairment at 13% of the whole person based on the right shoulder injury.  Thereafter, the employer paid the PPI rating in a lump sum.

On April 18, 2005, the employer controverted the employee’s right to reemployment benefits including an eligibility evaluation.  The employee’s right to TTD or temporary partial disability (TPD) was controverted based on its allegation that the employee was released to return to an accommodated position and allegedly declined the offer.

Nothing further occurred regarding the employee’s request for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits until November 16, 2005, when the employee was determined to be eligible for reemployment benefits.
  This determination was based on the employee having unusual and extenuating circumstances for his late request for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits.

On November 29, 2005, the employer requested that the RBA Designee grant reconsideration of the eligibility determination.

By letter dated December 6, 2005, the RBA Designee clarified that she relied on the employee’s statement that “he expected to get better and return to the job.”
  The RBA Designee further noted that the employee’s statement was further supported by his attempts to return to work for the same employer.  The RBA Designee found that this satisfied 8 AAC 45.520(b)(3) which states “the employer accommodated the employee’s limitation and continued to employ the employee;” and (b)(4) the employee continued to be employed.”  The RBA Designee also noted that the employee had undergone at least three shoulder surgeries followed by ongoing treatment since the injury.  The RBA Designee also noted that the employee returned to light duty work at least twice but was interrupted each time by the need for ongoing treatment.  In order to reconsider the decision finding the employee eligible, the RBA Designee requested that the employer provide information on the modified employment offered, how long the employee worked at modified employment and the reason the employee stopped working.  The employer was also asked to provide a medical summary including all available medical documentation.

A prehearing conference was conducted on February 13, 2006.  At that time, the employer alleged that information about ex parte contacts made by the RBA Designee with the employee and excluding the employer came to light.  In this regard, the employer’s brief at p. 8 states:


At the prehearing conference held 2/13/2006, it was disclosed to the employer for the first time that the RBA designee had substantive ex parte communications with the employee or his representatives in late 2005 or early 2006 regarding reemployment benefits and had received medical records and other documents from the employee that were not disclosed to or provided to the employer.  The employer therefore does not know if other communications prompted the RBA designee to take action on the eligibility request after more than two years of delay and inactivity. 

By letter dated March 15, 2006, the employer’s counsel responded to the information request set out in the RBA Designee’s December 6, 2005 letter.

By letter dated March 17, 2006, the RBA Designee considered the material submitted after the December 6, 2005 letter.  The RBA Designee reiterated her determination that the employee met the criteria as defined for unusual and extenuating circumstances for his late request and affirmed the eligibility determination for an eligibility evaluation set out on the November 16, 2005 letter.  

At the hearing, the employer’s counsel alleged that Faith White, the RBA Designee improperly engaged in ex parte communications with the employee from which the employer was excluded.  The employer alleges that Ms. White is to be unbiased, neutral, objective and not partisan or adversarial.

The employee’s counsel responded by reminding the employer’s counsel and the Board of the Board’s duty under Richard v. Fireman’s Fund,
 to advise parties of their rights and responsibilities under the Alaska Worker’s Compensation Act.

II. WITNESS TESTIMONY

A. Marlene Hardwick 

Ms. Hardwick testified as the human resource manager for Pacific Detroit Diesel.  She appeared by phone from Ridgefield, Washington.  She was familiar with the employee’s work history with Pacific Detroit Diesel.  She testified that as of May 2002, the employee worked as a technician.  After his injury on May 7, 2002, he returned to work on September 29, 2002, as a technician.  His work was modified.  He was off work from December 2002 to June 2003.  When he returned on June 8, 2003, he became a service writer-foreman.  He was not released to return to work as a mechanic.  During this period he had physical limitations, was on limited duty and was prohibited from overhead lifting.  According to the witness, the employee worked until September 2003.  According to the witness, when the employee came back it was as a service technician and this job was intended to be permanent, although it started as a temporary position.  According to the witness, the employee was not released to return to work as a mechanic.  When the employee returned to work in October 2003, he was released to the service writer position.  According to the witness, he was offered this position but declined it on October 24, 2003.  After this, the employer had no further contact with the employee and was not contacted about reemployment benefits.  On cross-examination, Ms. Hardwick acknowledged that she did not personally supervise the employee and that the Anchorage branch manager supervised the employee during the time period in question.

B. Travis Gravelle

The employee testified regarding his job situation after his May 7, 2002 injury.  He testified that after his June 9, 2002 surgery, he returned to work as a mechanic although he was performing work that he could do within his restrictions of a light duty nature.  He testified he would clock in and then go back to the diesel mechanic work area and perform the rest of the day doing light duty work including building a scaffold.  He continued to do this work until he was taken off work September 22, 2003, due to anxiety attacks.  Throughout the period after his injury, he was hoping to recover and return to his regular job as a mechanic.  He reported filing for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits after his third surgery in July 2003.  According to the employee, no doctor told him he could not return to work until a doctor told Mr. Soule, the employee’s lawyer, the employee could not return to work.  With regard to medical reports the employer claims the employee failed to file, the employee maintained he did file the medical report but for some reason they never were placed in his file. Mr. Gravelle acknowledged in his testimony that  he declined to accept the service writer job as it involved work he felt he could not perform.

C. Vickie Gravelle
Vickie Gravelle testified regarding the submission of doctor reports. She attempted to assist her husband with the processing of his case due to his depression and anxiety regarding his job situation. She claims that part of the problem may have been related to a failure by a doctor’s office to submit the proper reports although they were asked to do so.  She also reiterated the employee’s testimony that medical reports were submitted to the Board but never found their way to the employee’s file.  She testified that there were problems in making certain medical records for the employee were obtained.  Once they were obtained, she encountered further problems making certain they were in the employee’s file.  She indicated that when she checked the employee’s file in September 2005, she was shocked to discover that medical reports, which she thought were in her husband’s file, were not there.  She then took steps to make certain they were included. She believes that medical reports were filed with the Board but never went to the employer’s insurer.

III. PARTIES’ POSITIONS

A.  Employer
The employer maintains that the employee was injured and when he returned to work, he was placed in a position as a service writer which was the same pay level as his previous position as a mechanic but he declined the position.  Two years after the employee had initiated his request for retraining, in November 2005, the RBA made a referral for a rehabilitation evaluation.  According to the employer, the employee effectively waived and abandoned his request for reemployment benefits.  The employer also maintains the employee’s request for an eligibility evaluation was untimely under AS 23.30.041.
  The employer argues that the only statutorily permissible basis under which the RBA Designee could have excused the employee’s untimely request was upon a finding of extraordinary and unusual circumstances.  According to the employer, the employee’s reason for his late request claiming that he did not know about retraining benefits, does not constitute an extraordinary or unusual circumstance.  Thus, the employer asserts that the RBA Designee erred and exceeded her authority in excusing the employee’s late request and referring the employee for an eligibility evaluation.  In addition, the employer claims that the RBA Designee’s extraordinary delay of more than two years in acting on the employee’s request and the employee’s failure to respond to the RBA’s request for further information bars the RBA’s belated action on the request under law and equity.  In addition, the employer maintains that the employee could have taken the position of Service Writer which had been offered to him by the employer but which he declined.  The employer also asserts the employee failed to properly file medical reports regarding his condition.  The employer maintains that it is entitled to finality regarding the Board’s decisions and allowing the employee to have an eligibility evaluation after a long period of dormancy of the request is prohibited under its theory of implied waiver and estoppel.  The employer objects to what it asserts were ex parte contacts by RBA Designee which came to light during the February 13, 2006 prehearing conference.  The employer asserts that the RBA Designee had substantive ex parte communications with the employee or his representatives in late 2005 or early 2006 regarding reemployment benefits and had received medical records and other documents from the employee that were not disclosed to or provided to the employer.  The employer maintains that it does not know if other communications prompted the RBA Designee to take action on the eligibility request after more than two years of delay and inactivity.

B. Employee

The employee maintains that the employee’s eligibility is not the issue.  The employee contends that the standard for obtaining an eligibility evaluation is much lower than for an actual determination of eligibility for reemployment benefits.  The employee maintains that the employee made his request for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits on September 13, 2003, and then the first doctor predicted he could not return to his previous job on November 6, 2003.  In addition, the employee’s circumstance meets several of the criteria under 8 AAC 45.520 for unusual and extenuating circumstances including under section (b) subsections (1), (2), (3), and (4).   The employee also asserts that reemployment benefits are a form of compensation and requested that, as such, the issue be analyzed under the AS 23.20.120 presumption analysis.

The employee also seeks an award of attorney fees of $5,275.00 for 21.10 hours at the rate of $250.00 per hour expended in connection with defending against the employer’s petition.  The employee also claimed $105.05 in related costs.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. COMPENSABILITY OF THE REQUEST
The injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits he seeks are compensable.
  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.
  A request for a vocational rehabilitation eligibility evaluation is a claim for compensation under the Act.

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and his employment.  Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, the Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation.
 

There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  The Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  In this case, the Board has determined that the employer has failed to meet its burden of production as to evidence which would overcome the presumption of compensability.  Under these circumstances, the Board finds that under the presumption analysis, the employee has raised and the employer has failed to rebut the presumption of compensability as to the employee’s claim for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits..  

The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.
 

Applying the presumption analysis to the case at hand, the Board finds the claimant has introduced sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability.
   This determination is based upon the employer’s receipt of notice of the injury as of May 31, 2002.  90 days from this date is August 28, 2002. 8 AAC 45.510 and 520. The employee requested an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits as of September 19, 2003.  The Board finds Dr. Moore’s November 6, 2003 report is the first indication that the employee could not return to his job at the time of injury, which is the required prediction under AS 23.30.041(e). The Board finds the employee has introduced sufficient “minimal” evidence to establish the compensability of his request for an eligibility evaluation.  

Once the employee establishes the presumption of compensability, the burden shifts to the employer to rebut this presumption with substantial evidence. "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
     The Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation to determine whether it has: (1) produced substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminated any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the Board finds that the employer has failed to meet its burden of production.  No relevant evidence has been offered by the employer which would rebut the presumption.  Even if the employer had presented substantial evidence to rebut the presumption, the Board finds the employee is able, at the third stage of the analysis, to prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  The Board finds the employer received notice of the injury on May 31, 2002.  90 days from this date is August 28, 2002.  The employee requested an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits on September 19, 2003.  The first time a doctor indicated the employee would not be able to return to his job at the time of injury was Dr. Moore’s November 6, 2003 report.  The Board concludes the employee has established that he should prevail on his claim for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits.    

II.       STANDARD OF REVIEW
The Board also reviews the record as to alleged abuse of discretion by the RBA Designee in finding the employee eligible for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits.  The following analysis addresses this issue.  

If the criteria of AS 23.30.041(c) are met, the RBA is required to refer the employee to a rehabilitation specialist for an evaluation.  That subsection of the statute does not explicitly discuss the mechanism for parties to challenge that referral, but AS 23.30.041(d) provides a right to request a hearing to review RBA eligibility determinations.  The Board has interpreted the review provision of AS 23.30.041(d) to apply to other aspects of the eligibility process, including the referral to a rehabilitation specialist.
  In accord with AS 23.30.041(d), the Board should uphold the RBA referral decision absent an abuse of discretion.

In Sheehan v. University of Alaska,
 the Alaska Supreme Court concluded an abuse of discretion includes issuing a decision, which is arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or stems from an improper motive.  In Brown v. State,
 the Alaska Supreme Court has also stated that abuse of discretion exists only when the Court is "left with the definite and firm conviction on the whole record that the trial judge has made a mistake."
  An agency's failure to properly apply the controlling law may also be considered an abuse of discretion.
  We have specifically held that misapplication of the law is an abuse of discretion, as well.
 

In the Administrative Procedure Act, the legislature has provided another definition to be used by the courts in considering appeals of administrative agency decisions.  It contains terms similar to those set out above, but also expressly includes reference to a substantial evidence standard:  

Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not supported by the evidence . . . .  If it is claimed that the findings are not supported by the evidence, abuse of discretion is established if the court determines that the findings are not supported by (1) the weight of the evidence; or (2) substantial evidence in the light of the whole record.
  

On appeal to the Superior Court, the Board’s decision reviewing the RBA Designee's determination is subject to reversal under the abuse of discretion standard of AS 44.62.570, incorporating the substantial evidence test.  Concern with meeting that standard on appeal leads the Board to apply a substantial evidence standard in the Board’s review of an RBA determination.

Applying a substantial evidence standard, the Alaska Supreme Court held a "[reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order . . . must be upheld."
  

The Board’s responsibility to determine whether an abuse of discretion has taken place is aided by the Board’s practice of allowing additional evidence into the record at the review hearing.  The practice is based on the rationale expressed in several Superior Court opinions addressing that issue on appeal.  After allowing the parties to enter their evidence, the Board reviews it and the evidence before the RBA Designee to assess whether the RBA Designee's decision was supported by substantial evidence and therefore reasonable.
  If, in light of all the evidence, the Board finds the RBA Designee's decision is not supported by substantial evidence, the Board should conclude that the RBA Designee abused his or her discretion and remand the matter for reexamination of the evidence and any necessary action.

III.
Entitlement to Eligibility Evaluation
AS 23.30.041(c) provides in pertinent part:  

If an employee suffers a compensable injury that may permanently preclude an employee's return to the employee's occupation at the time of injury, the employee or employer may request an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits.  The employee shall request an eligibility evaluation within 90 days after the employee gives the employer notice of injury unless the administrator determines the employee has an unusual and extenuating circumstance that prevents the employee from making a timely request…. 

8 AAC 45.510(b) provides:

The administrator will consider a written request for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits if the compensability of the injury has not been controverted and if the request is submitted together with

(1) an explanation of the unusual and extenuating circumstances, as defined in 8 AAC 45.520, for a request that is made more than 90 days after the date the employee gave the employer notice of injury; and 

(2) a physician’s prediction that the injury may permanently preclude the employee from returning to the job at time of injury.

The employee stands at the initial stage in the reemployment process.  Whether the employee will actually be found eligible for reemployment benefits is not yet in question.  The Board has long held there is a lower threshold to begin the reemployment process with an eligibility evaluation, than to actually be found eligible for reemployment benefits.
 
AS 23.30.041(c) requires 1) a compensable injury, 2) a possibility that the injury may permanently preclude the employee from returning to his occupation at the time of injury, 3) a request by the employee for an eligibility evaluation within 90 days after the employee gives the employer notice of the injury, and 4) if notice is not given within 90 days, a determination by the RBA that the employee had an unusual and extenuating circumstance that prevented the employee from making a timely request.  8 AAC 45.510 provides additional guidance to the RBA when considering an employee’s written request for an eligibility evaluation.  Pursuant to 8 AAC 45.510(b), the RBA considers a request for an eligibility evaluation only if 1) the compensability of the injury has not been controverted, and 2) if the request is submitted with an explanation of unusual and extenuating circumstances (if needed), and a physician’s prediction that the injury may permanently preclude the employee from returning to his job at the time of injury.  

The employer argued the RBA Designee abused her discretion because there was a delay in the employee’s request for reemployment services.  This request was made to the RBA on September 19, 2003.
  The record shows that the employee did make a timely request for an eligibility evaluation because he expected to get better and return to the job at the time of injury.  Even if it was untimely under 8 AAC 45.520,  the Board finds substantial evidence in light of the entire record in this case supports the RBA Designee’s determination that the employee had unusual and extenuating circumstances for making a late filed request under  8 AAC 45.520, which provides:

(a) An employee requesting an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits more than 90 days after giving the employer notice of the injury must submit to the administrator 

(1) a written request for the evaluation; 

(2) a doctor's prediction that the injury may permanently preclude the employee from returning to the job at the time of injury; and 

(3) a written statement explaining the unusual and extenuating circumstances that prevented the employee from timely requesting the eligibility evaluation. 

(b) Within 30 days after receiving the information required under (a) of this section, the administrator will notify the parties, by certified mail, whether the employee had an unusual and extenuating circumstance that prevented the employee from making a timely request for an eligibility evaluation. An unusual and extenuating circumstance exists only if the administrator determines that within the first 90 days after the employee gave the employer notice of the injury 

(1) a doctor failed to predict that the employee may be permanently precluded from returning to the job at time of injury; 

(2) the employee did not know that a doctor predicted the employee may be permanently precluded from returning to the job at time of injury; 

(3) the employer accommodated the employee's limitation and continued to employ the employee; 

(4) the employee continued to be employed; 

(5) the compensability of the injury was controverted and compensability was not resolved; or 

(6) the employee's injury was so severe that the employee was physically or mentally prevented from requesting an eligibility evaluation. 

(c) Within 10 days after the decision, either party may seek a review of the decision by requesting a hearing under AS 23.30.110 . 
In the instant case the employer has accepted the compensability of the employee’s May 7, 2002 work injury, providing extensive medical care, surgical care and periodic TTD benefits.    The RBA Designee clearly identified retraining as the basis for the employee’s request for an evaluation more than 90 days after the injury.  The Board further finds that even if the request was found to be untimely, the employee had unusual and extenuating circumstances for making a request for retraining more than 90 days after giving the employer notice of the injury because under subsection (4) of 8 AAC 45.520, the employee continued to be employed and under subsection (3), the employer accommodated the employee’s limitation and continued to employ the employee performing mechanic work of a lighter nature.

In this regard, the Board finds that the employee was the best witness as to what his job duties were after his injury and during his attempts to return to work.  While the employer offered the testimony of Ms. Hardwick, the Board notes that she was not located in the employer’s Anchorage facilities to see what the employee was doing on a day-to-day basis.  The employee, on the other hand, testified credibly that when he returned to work after his surgeries, he would check in at the main office and then go back to the diesel shop where he had always worked and performed work of a light duty nature.  He specifically testified, and the Board finds that his testimony in this regard is credible, that he did not want a desk job and instead, stayed in the diesel work area doing work that involved light duty with no lifting beyond 10 pounds or overhead lifting which was consistent with his physician-imposed limitations.  The Board finds that the employee is the best witness as to what his job duties were as he repeatedly returned to work after surgery and hoped to eventually recover fully.   The Board finds the employee credible pursuant to AS 23.30.122, which states that the Board has the  ”…sole power to determine the credibility of a witness…”

We find substantial evidence in the record to support the RBA Designee’s decision to refer the employee under AS 23.30.041(c).  We do not find the RBA Designee misapplied 8 AAC 45.510 and 8 AAC 45.520.  The Board finds the RBA Designee’s decision to refer the employee for an eligibility evaluation was not arbitrary, capricious or manifestly unreasonable.  We conclude she did not abuse her discretion. Accordingly, we must deny and dismiss the employer’s petition.  The Board notes the language in a similar case, Snell v. State of Alaska, where the Board observed:


This is simply the initial stage of the reemployment process.  Whether the employee will actually be found eligible for reemployment benefits remains to be seen.  There is simply a lower threshold to begin the reemployment process with an eligibility evaluation, than to actually be found eligible for reemployment benefits.

In further support of the Board’s decision, we note a similar situation in Williams v. Municipality of Anchorage,
 and this situation resulted in a Board order authorizing an eligibility evaluation.  In Williams, the employee was a bus driver who made a request for an eligibility evaluation more than 90 days post injury.  The employee hurt his ankle at work but he continued to work as a bus driver.  Over a year later, his doctor indicated that he did not think the employee could return to work as a driver at any point in the future.  The employer accommodated the employee’s disability for sometime thereafter.  However, the claimant was later terminated from his job for medical reasons.  Twenty eight days later, he asked for an eligibility evaluation and the RBA denied his request, citing the discovery rule, in which the claimant is required to make his request for an eligibility evaluation within 90 days of the date he first learns of the doctor’s prediction.  He appealed and the Board reversed the RBA and stated with regard to 8 AAC 45.520:

Employee argued the facts of his case fell within the definitions set forth in paragraphs (1) through (4).  Based on Employee's testimony and the medical records in this case, we agree.  First, we find no doctor predicted, within 90 days of the date of notice of injury, Employee may be permanently precluded from returning to his job at the time of injury.  The earliest "prediction" that arguably exists in Employee's file is Dr. VanHouten's December 31, 1997 examination report, which was over 11 months after the date of notice of the injury.  Second, we find Employee did not know that a doctor predicted he may be permanently precluded from returning to his occupation at the time of his injury because no such prediction existed.  We base this finding on the fact not one medical record clearly stated Employee may not be able to return to his occupation at the time of injury, and on Employee's uncontroverted testimony.  Third, we find Employer accommodated Employee's physical condition by continuing his employment as a bus driver through March 9, 1998.  Finally, Employee in fact continued to be employed through March 9, 1998.

The Board relies on this analogous precedent for the proposition that even where a doctor makes a prediction after the application for an eligibility evaluation was filed, the application may be considered to fall within the terms of 8 AAC 45.520 as an unusual and extenuating circumstance.  The Board will affirm the decision of the RBA Designee and allow the eligibility evaluation to go forward.

With regard to the employer’s allegations of ex parte contact by the RBA Designee, the Board has carefully reviewed the employer’s allegations of ex parte communications with the employee by Faith White, the RBA Designee.  The employer alleges that at a prehearing conference held February 13, 2006, it came to light that the RBA Designee had substantive ex parte communications with the employee or his representatives in late 2005 or early 2006 regarding reemployment benefits and had received medical reports and other documents from the employee that were not disclosed to or provided to the employer.  According to the employer’s brief at page 8, the employer does not know if other communications prompted the RBA designee to take action on the eligibility request after more than two years of delay and inactivity.

The employee’s counsel responded to the allegations by reminding counsel for the employer that the Board has a duty under Richard v. Fireman’s Fund  to provide information to employees regarding the nature of the workers’ compensation programs

The Board finds that despite the allegations of ex parte communications asserted by the employer, the record does not support that these communications occurred.  The Board accepts the testimony of Vickie Gravelle as credible.
  She testified, and the Board finds as fact, that there were problems in making certain medical records for the employee were obtained.  The problems also included the fact that when they were obtained it was difficult to make certain they were in the employee’s Board file.  The Board further finds that even if an ex parte communication occurred, it would not have affected the outcome of this case as the RBA Designee’s decision is fully supported by the record on a variety of grounds as set out above.  For this reason, the Board finds that no ex parte communication occurred and even if it did, and a portion of the decision making were considered somehow tainted, the RBA Designee’s decision is fully supported on other grounds not related to the alleged ex parte contacts.  The Board reminds the employer that under Richard v. Fireman’s Fund, the RBA Designee “…owes to every applicant for compensation the duty of fully advising him as to all the real facts which bear upon his condition and his right to compensation, so far as it may know them, and of instructing him on how to pursue that right under the law.”

IV.
Attorney’s Fees and Costs
AS 23.30.145 provides, in part:

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered. 

8 AAC 45.180 provides:


(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues on which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim.  The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim. . . .

The Board finds the RBA Designee decision granting the employee an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits was resisted by the actions of the employer.
  The employee seeks an award of attorney's fee and costs under subsection 145(b) for the benefits defended.  The Board found the employee entitled to the claimed evaluation.  Consequently, we can award fees and costs.
  Subsection 145(b) requires the award of an attorney's fee to be reasonable.  We have examined the record of this case, and the employee's written itemization of fees and costs, as well as the supplemental information provided during the hearing.  In Snell v. State of Alaska,
 we found legal fees similar to those claimed by the employee per hour to be a reasonable fee for this workers' compensation attorney, considering his competence and experience.

In keeping with the Alaska Supreme Court’s instructions in Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell,
 the Board will award the employee legal fees that recognize the value of the legal representation, and fully compensate his attorney.  Accordingly, we will award attorney fees and costs for the hours actually expended on his workers’ compensation claim. 

The employee filed an affidavit of attorney fees and legal costs dated April 4, 2006.  In the affidavit, the employee itemized 21.10 hours of attorney time at a fee of $250.00 per hour, totaling $5,275.20.  The employee also itemized $105.05 in costs.  

Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed; the resistance of the employer, the contingent nature of the fees, as well as the potential amount of benefits resulting
 from the services obtained, the Board finds the above-mentioned attorney fees in the amount of $5,275.00 were reasonable for the employee’s successful prosecution of this claim.  We will award these fees under AS 23.30.145(b).  Additionally, we find the itemized costs of $105.05 were reasonable, under AS 23.30.145(b), for the employee’s successful defense against the employer’s petition. 
    


ORDER
1.
The RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in finding the employee entitled to an eligibility evaluation.  The employer’s petition for review is denied.

2.
The employer shall pay the employee $5,275.00 in reasonable attorney fees and $105.05 in costs, under AS 23.30.145(b).
Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on May 4th, 2006.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.160 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of TRAVIS M. GRAVELLE, employee / applicant, v. PACIFIC DETROIT DIESEL-ALLISON COMPANY, employer, LIBERTY NORTHWEST INSURANCE CO, insurer / defendants; Case No. 200209661; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on May 4th, 2006.





Joy Tuttle, Clerk
�








� May 31, 2002 report of occupational injury or illness.


� October 29, 2004  compensation report.


� September 26, 2002 Mason note.


� June 25, 2003 Moore report.


� May 30, 2002 Moore release.


� August 14, 2003 Moore note.


� September 11, 2003 Moore release.


� September 19, 2003 request for eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits.


� October 1, 2003 Stoll letter.


� October 9, 2003 Moore release.


� October 17, 2003 Hardwick letter.


� October 27, 2003 Johnston report.


� Id., at 2.


� October 27, 2003 Nassar report.


� October 28, 2003 controversion.


� November 6, 2003 Moore release.


� March 28, 2006 claimant’s hearing brief at 8.


� December 16, 2003 Moore response to Lamson letter.


� December 19, 2003 Moore report.


� Employer’s medical evaluation (EME)  authorized by AS 23.30.095(e) and (k).


� February 12, 2004 Moore report.


� August 30, 2004 Moore release.


� April 18, 2005 controversion.


� November 16, 2005 RBA Designee letter.


� November 29, 2005 petition.


� December 6, 2005 RBA Designee letter.


� March 15, 2006 Livsey letter.


� 384 P.2d 445(Alaska 1963).


� April 4, 2006 hearing tape.


� March 29, 2006 employer hearing brief at 1.


� March 29, 2006 employer’s hearing brief at 8, footnote 1.


� April 4, 2006 fee/cost affidavit of William J. Soule.


� AS 23.30.120(a); Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279.


� Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987).


� Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316.


� Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d at 473-74.


� Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).


� Id. (quoting Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316).


� Id.; Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).


� Veco, 693 P.2d at 869.


� Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Miller, 577 P.2d 1044.


� Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).


� Koons, 816 P.2d 1381.


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


� Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316.


� Miller, 577 P.2d 1044.


� Grainger, 805 P.2d  at 977. 


� Snell v. State of Alaska,  AWCB Decision No. 02-0192 (September 20, 2002).


� Id.; Helveston v. Federal Express Corp., AWCB Decision No. 02-0018 (1/30/02); Avessuk, AWCB Decision No. 89-0215.


� 700 P.2d 1295, 1297 (Alaska 1985).


� 563 P.2d 275 (Alaska 1977).


� Id. at 279.


� Manthey v. Collier, 367 P.2d 884 (Alaska 1962).


� Binder v. Fairbanks Historical Preservation Foundation, AWCB Decision No. 91-0392 (December 11, 1991). 


� AS 44.62.570.


� Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1049 (Alaska 1978) (footnotes omitted).


60 Yahara v. Construction & Rigging, Inc., 851 P.2d 69 (Alaska 1993).








� Vitek v. Inlet Fisheries, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 99-0010 (January 15, 1999); Helveston v. Federal Express Corp., AWCB Decision No. 02-0018 (January 1, 2002).


� September 19, 2003 request for eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits.


� Snell at 13.


� AWCB Decision No. 98-0273 (October 30, 1998).


� Id., at 9.


� March 29, 2006 employer’s hearing brief at 8, footnote 1.


� AS 23.30.122.


� 384 P.2d 445, 449 (Alaska 1963).


� Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1979).


� Alaska Interstate v. Houston, 586 P.2d 618, 620 (Alaska 1978).


� AWCB Decision No. 02-0192 (September 20, 2002).


� 718 P.2d 971, 975 (Alaska 1986).


�  Lipman v. Anchorage School District, AWCB Decision No. 00-0048 (March 10, 2000).


� Corneliussen v. Nabors Alaska Drilling, 03-0021 (January 31, 2003).





22

